Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 1 of 63

FILED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-27-2020

1000110111

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Date: December

12, 2019

Plaintiff-

District: 3

Respondent,

DISCITCU: 3

V.

Appeal No.

NHIA LEE,

2019AP000221 CR

Defendant-Appellant.

Circuit Court

Case No. 2018CF001025

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE HONORABLE LAMONT JACOBSON

BRANCH III OF THE MARATHON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

MARATHON COUNTY CASE NUMBER 2018CF1025

Attorney Julianne M. Lennon
Defendant Appellant's Counsel
Law Offices of Attorney Julianne M. Lennon
634 Werle Ave.
Wausau, WI 54401
(715) 551-7442

Statement of the Issues Presented vi
Statement Whether Oral Argument is Necessary vii
Statement Whether the Opinion Should be Published vii
Statement of the Case
Arguments
I. The trial court did not have jurisdiction to
determine probable cause at the preliminary
Hearing
1. The ten-day limit for conducting
a preliminary hearing was violated 17
2. The court lacked personal jurisdiction to conduct
a preliminary hearing because sufficient good
cause was not shown to support the three-month
delay in conducting the preliminary
examination
II. The court erred by failing to appoint counsel at
county expense when the Wisconsin Office of the
State Public Defender was unable to locate counsel
to represent Lee

III. Lee's confinement in custody with process deferred
for over three months violated due
process
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION viii, ix, x, xi
APPENDIX

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 4 of 63

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Armstrong v. State, 55 Wis.2d 282,198 N.W.2d 357(1972) . 18
Board of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564,
572, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed. 548 (1972)
Carpenter v. Dane County, 9 Wis.249 (1859) 31
Dent v. West Virginia, 129 U.S. 114, 123 (1889) 44
Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 651, 112 S.Ct.
2686, 120 L.Ed. 2d 520 (1992)
Douglas County v. Edwards, 137 Wis.2d 65, 85, 403 N.W.2d
438, 447 (1987)
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 Sup. Ct. 792, 9
L.Ed. 2d 799 (1963)
Jauch v. Choctow County, 874 F.3d 425 (5th Cir., 2017)
(cert. denied)
Jones v. State, 37 Wis.2d 56, 69, 154 NW2d 278 (1967) . 36
Kirby v. Illinois, 409 U.S. 682, 689, 92 S.Ct. 1877, 32
L.Ed.2d 411 (1972) (plurality opinion)

Logan v. State, 43 Wis.2d 128, 168 N.W.2d 171 (1969) 18
Miranda v. Arizona (1966), 384 U.S. 436, 86 Sup. Ct. 1602,
16 L. Ed. 2d 694
Rothgery v. Gillespie County, Texas, 554 U.S. 191, 128
S.Ct. 2578, 2592 (2008)
State v. Dean, 163 Wis. 2d 503, 471 N.W.2d 310 (Ct. App.
1991)
State Ex. Rel. Fitas v. Milwaukee County, 65 Wis.2d 130,
134, 221 N.W.2d 902 (1974)
State v. Lemay, 155 Wis.2d 202, 210, 455 N.W.2d 233
1990)
State v. Selders, 163 Wis.2d 607, 613, 472 N.W.2d 526 (Ct.
App. 1991)
United States v. Wade (1967), 388 U.S. 218, 87 Sup. Ct.
1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149)
Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539, 558, 94 S.Ct. 2963, 41
T. ED. 2d 935 (1974)

Constitution, Statutes and Rules

i ii going to stand up . Northern wisconsin judge demands
answers from state on public defender crisis," Milwaukee
Journal Sentinel, by Bruce Viclmetti (Nov.1,2018) . 41, 42
Wis. Stat. § 809.22 vii
Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1 viii
Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)5 vii
Wis. Stat. § §970.03(1)
Wis. Stat. § 970.03(2) vi, 10, 18, 21, 22, 24, 25, 26
Wis. Stats. § 971.10(2)(a)
In re the Petition to Amend SCR 81.02, S. Ct. Order
No. 17-06, 2018 WI 83 (issued June 27, 2018, eff.
Jan. 1, 2020)
10, 24, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 34, 38, 39, 43, 45, 49, 50
Rule Petition with Appendix, 1706,
(<u>www.wicourts.gov/scrules/1706.htm</u>)
Wis. Stats. Ann. 970.03(2), 1969 AB 603, Ch. 225, L. 1969
(http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/1969/related/acts/255.pdf)
electronic page 3

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 7 of 63

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

1) Did the trial court have jurisdiction to determine probable cause at a preliminary hearing since the tenday time limit allowed under Wis. Stat. § 970.03(2) had expired by 104 days?

The trial court violated the ten-day deadline in Wis. Stat. § 970.03(2), therefore, it lost personal jurisdiction over the case. The Hon. LaMont Jacobson ruled that the delay was not a statutory or constitutional violation.

2) Was it error for the court to fail to appoint counsel at county expense when the Wisconsin Office of the State Public Defender was unable to locate counsel to represent Lee?

Judge Jacobson ruled that the failure to appoint an attorney for Lee at county expense was not a constitutional violation.

3) Did Lee's confinement in custody with process deferred for over three months violate due process?

Judge Jacobson ruled that there was not a constitutional or statutory violation.

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 8 of 63

STATEMENT WHETHER ORAL ARGUMENT IS NECESSARY

There should be oral arguments pursuant to Wis. Stats. \$ 809.22 to permit questions to be asked and answered.

STATEMENT WHETHER THE OPINION SHOULD BE PUBLISHED

The opinion should be published because it decides an issue of substantial and continuing public interest pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 809.23(1)(a)5 by determining whether due process was violated by the extraordinary delay between the initial appearance and the preliminary hearing.

The opinion should be published because it decides an issue of substantial and continuing public interest pursuant to § 809.23(1)(a)5 Wis. Stats. by determining whether the failure to appoint counsel at a defendant's first appearance, or promptly thereafter, irreparably damages the indigent defendant's substantive right to the assistance of counsel.

The opinion should be published because it decides an issue of substantial and continuing public interest pursuant to § 809.23(1)(a)5 Wis. Stats. by determining

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 9 of 63

whether the failure to appoint counsel to enable a timely preliminary hearing, irreparably damages the indigent defendant's substantive right to the assistance of counsel.

The opinion should be published because it will clarify an existing rule of law pursuant to § 809.23(1) (a) 1 Wis. Stats. specifically, whether a Court must appoint an attorney to represent indigent defendants when the Public Defender is unable to locate an attorney to represent the individual.

The opinion should be published because it will clarify an existing rule of law pursuant to § 809.23(1) (a) 1 Wis. Stats. specifically, when a Court must appoint an attorney for an indigent defendant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The criminal complaint for Marathon County Case Number 2018CF1025 charged Nhia Lee with three crimes. (1).

Attorney Pauline Toulouse appeared with Lee in person, and in custody on September 10, 2018 (40:2). Attorney Toulouse requested that Lee's case be re-called the next day.

(40:3). The Court found probable cause based upon the complaint and continued the initial appearance. (40:3). At the adjourned initial appearance, Attorney Toulouse requested a signature bond. (41:2). The Court set a \$25,000 cash bond. (41:2). Attorney Toulouse requested that the preliminary hearing be held within ten days. (41:3).

The Court set a review hearing for September 14, 2018, a preliminary hearing for September 19, 2018. (41:4).

Lee appeared without counsel, in custody, by video from the jail, and the State did not appear at the September 14, 2018, review hearing. (42:2). The purpose of the review hearing was to check on Lee's attorney status. (42:2). Lee was eligible for a Public Defender but the Public Defender was still looking for an attorney to represent him. (42:2). Lee's preliminary hearing was set

for September 19, 2018. (42:2). Lee stated that he wanted an attorney. (42:2). The Court took the preliminary hearing off the calendar and scheduled a hearing to determine if an attorney had been appointed to represent him. (42:2). The Court found good cause to extend the time limits. (42:2).

Review hearings were also held on September 21, 2018, (43), September 28, 2018, (44) October 5, 2018, (45) and October 12, 2018. (46). At each review hearing, the Public Defender was still searching for counsel to represent Lee, and the Court extended the time limits for cause. (43:2), (44:2), (45:2), (46:2).

The Court said Lee had the right to have the preliminary examination within ten days if he was in custody and his bond was at least \$500, but if there was good cause the time limit could be extended. (46:3). The Court stated the good cause finding was due to the need for counsel and the shortage of attorneys taking Public Defender cases. (46:3). The statute does not set a limit on the number of extensions. (46:3).

The Court could not give him advice about what to do.

(46:4). The Court found good cause to extend the time limits for the preliminary hearing. (46:5).

Lee appeared without counsel, in custody, by video from the jail, and the State did not appear at the review hearing on October 19, 2018. (47:2). The Court stated that Lee was eligible for an attorney through the Public Defender but the agency was still searching for counsel to represent him. (47:2). The Court stated, there is not a definitive answer by a higher court as to when it would become a due process violation. (47:2-3). The Court found good cause to extend the time limits. (47:3).

Lee appeared without counsel, in custody, by video from the jail, and the State did not appear at the review hearing on October 26, 2018. (48:2). The Court stated that Lee was eligible for a Public Defender but the agency was still seeking counsel to represent him. (48:2). Lee advised the Court that he had sent a letter to the Judge. (48:2).

Lee's letter to Judge Jacobson stated that he had been in jail for over one and one-half months and had not had a preliminary hearing. (9:2). Lee's letter stated that he was entitled to a preliminary hearing within ten days of

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 13 of 63

his initial appearance, a preliminary hearing had not been held, and he had not been given good cause for the failure to have a preliminary hearing. (9:1-2). Lee's letter stated that his due process rights had been violated and requested that the Court dismiss his case. (9:2).

The Court found good cause to extend the time limits for the preliminary hearing and set a review hearing. (48:2-3).

Lee appeared without counsel, in custody, by video from the jail, and the State did not appear at the review hearing on November 2, 2018. (49:2). The Court stated that Lee was eligible for the Public Defender but the agency was still searching for representation for him. (49:2). The Court found good cause to extend the time limits for the preliminary hearing and set a review hearing in one week. (49:3).

Lee appeared in person and without counsel on November 7, 2018. (50:2). Assistant District Attorney Kyle Mayo appeared for the State. (50:2). Attorney Suzanne O'Neill appeared at Judge LaMont Jacobson's invitation to provide information to the Court about the Public Defender's Office

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 14 of 63

attempts to find an attorney for Lee. (50:3). The Court set the hearing in response to Lee's letter. (50:3). The Court stated that Lee's letter requested a preliminary hearing, a dismissal or a bond hearing due to the delays in an attorney being appointed to represent him. (50:3).

Attorney O'Neill stated that at least 100, if not more attorneys had been contacted. (50:4). Attorney O'Neill stated that the Public Defender contacted local attorneys by telephone and also sent out e-mail messages to attorneys throughout the State to try to locate an attorney to represent Lee, but they were unsuccessful. (50:4).

The Court stated the constitutional requirement for a probable cause finding was satisfied because probable cause findings were made on September 4, 2018, and September 10, 2018. (50:6). The Court stated the adjourned initial appearance held on September 11, 2018, started the cycle of Public Defender appointment review hearings. (50:5). The Court stated review hearings were held on September 14th, September 21st, September 28th, October 5th, October 12th, October 19th, October 26th, and November 2nd. (50:5).

The Court stated that Lee's letter raised his

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 15 of 63

statutory right to have a preliminary hearing within ten days if he is held on a cash bail of \$500 or more. (50:6). The Court stated the right to have a preliminary hearing within ten days is subject to court review to find out if there is good case to extend the time limits for having the preliminary examination. (50:6).

The Court stated, that review hearing procedure was developed in Marathon County to deal with the ongoing shortage of attorneys accepting Public Defender appointments or conflict cases. (50:6). The Court stated that Lee's situation had gone on for a long time, in excess of two months. (50:6). The Court stated that at each stage there were reviews and the Court found good cause to extend the time limits. (50:6).

The Court conceded that Lee was "getting very, very close to the point where the Court could find a constitutional violation." (50:7). The Court denied the motion to dismiss on constitutional grounds because there were probable cause findings. (50:7). The Court denied the motion to dismiss on statutory grounds for failing to hold the preliminary hearing within ten days because the review

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 16 of 63

hearings were held and the statute allows for cause extensions of the time limits for the preliminary hearing. (50:7).

The Court ruled that Lee's right to counsel had not been denied. (50:7).

The Court denied Lee's request to modify his bond. (50:7-8). The Court set Lee's case for another review hearing on November 9, 2018. (50:8).

Lee appeared without counsel, in custody, by video from the jail, and the State did not appear at the review hearing on November 9, 2018. (51:2). The Court told Lee the Public Defender was still looking for an attorney for him. (51:2). The Court said there were other people who had been waiting almost twice as long for an attorney. (51:2). The Court reiterated that at some point the delays would become a constitutional problem. (51:3). The Court extended the time limits for good cause for one week. (51:3).

Lee appeared without counsel, in custody, by video from the jail, and the State did not appear at the review hearing on November 16, 2018. (52:2). The Court stated

that the Public Defender was still looking for an attorney to represent Lee. (52:2). The Court advised Lee of his right to appeal and reiterated that the longer the delay in appointing counsel the worse the situation, and that at some point it could be a constitutional violation. (52:2). The Court told Lee he could send another motion to the Court. (52:2). The Court stated there was not any legal authority to explain when a constitutional violation has occurred. (52:3). The Court found good cause to extend the time limits for the preliminary hearing. (52:3).

At the November 30, 2018, hearing, Lee still had not been appointed counsel and the Court extended the time limits for the preliminary hearing for cause. (53:2).

The Court said the review hearings would be scheduled every two-weeks. (53:2-3). The Court stated at some point an attorney might have to be appointed at county expense,

But "I know they're trying not to have to do that . . . "

(53:3).

On December 14, 2018, Judge Michael Moran tolled the time limits for cause and set another review hearing. (54:2).

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 18 of 63

Lee wrote another letter to Judge Jacobson stating that his constitutional rights had been violated. (18:1).

The Wisconsin Office of the State Public Defender appointed an attorney to represent Lee on December 21, 2018. (17). Lee's attorney filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice on December 28, 2018. (20). The motion stated, that Lee's preliminary hearing was set for September 19, 2018. (20:1). Lee requested counsel. (20:1). Lee was financially eligible to have an attorney appointed by the Wisconsin Office of the State Public Defender. (20:1). The Wisconsin Office of the State Public Defender was unable to locate an attorney to represent Lee until December 21, 2018. (20:1). The motion argued that when the Public Defender's Office is unable to locate an attorney, the Court shall appoint an attorney at county expense pursuant to Wisconsin Supreme Court order, In re the Petition to Amend SCR 81.02, S. Ct. Order No. 17-06, 2018 WI 83 (issued June 27, 2018, eff. Jan. 1, 2020). (20:1-2). The motion sought dismissal with prejudice because the failure to appoint counsel at county expense deprived of Lee of his constitutional right to counsel for more than 90 days. (20:2).

The motion argued that if Lee had been appointed counsel at county expense, he could have had a preliminary hearing, a bond hearing, motions and a speedy trial, all within the timeframe during which he sat in custody waiting for an attorney to be appointed. (20:2). The motion argued that a preliminary hearing had not been held for Lee within 10 days as required by Sec. 970.03(2) Wis. Stats. (20:2).

Lee appeared in custody by video from the jail at the review hearing on December 28, 2018. (55:2). Lee's attorney appeared in the court room and advised Court Commissioner Douglas Bauman that she had electronically filed a Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice prior to appearing at the hearing. (55:2). Counsel also provided a paper copy of the motion to Court Commissioner Bauman at the hearing. (55:2).

When the Public Defender's Office is unable to locate an attorney, the Court is required to appoint an attorney at county expense pursuant to Wisconsin Supreme Court order, In re the Petition to Amend SCR 81.02, S. Ct. Order No. 17-06, 2018 WI 83 (issued June 27, 2018, eff. Jan. 1, 2020). Court Commissioner Bauman deferred ruling on the motion. (55:2-3).

Court Commissioner Bauman stated that a preliminary hearing was set for January 2, 2019. (55:3). Lee's attorney stated she was appointed on December 21, 2018, and objected to the preliminary hearing being set more than 10 days after the appointment of counsel. (17) (55:3). Court Commissioner Bauman stated, that the court had been extending the time limits due the Public Defender being unable to locate counsel. (55:3). The Court Commissioner found good cause to extend the time limits until January 2, 2019. (55:3). Lee's attorney asked the Court to state the basis for finding good cause to hold the preliminary hearing on January 2, 2019. (55:3).

Court Commissioner Bauman stated the delay in finding an attorney and getting the hearing dates scheduled was the good cause for extending the time limit. (55:4). Lee's attorney placed on the record that she had a preliminary hearing on December 26, 2018, and preliminary hearings for other individuals were held the same day. (55:4). Counsel stated that Lee's preliminary hearing could have been set on December 26, 2018. (55:4).

Lee appeared in custody with counsel at the preliminary hearing on January 2, 2019. (56:3). Attorney

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 21 of 63

Robert Southwell appeared for the State. (56:3). Attorney Lennon advised the court that she had previously filed a notice of motion and motion to dismiss, and then amended the motion to add additional arguments. (56:3). Judge Jill Falstad declined to rule on the motion. (56:3). Judge Falstad said to set the motion for a hearing in Branch 3. (56:4). Judge Falstad heard testimony at the preliminary hearing. (56:4-15). Judge Falstad found probable cause that a felony was committed and that Lee committed it and bound him over for trial. (56:16). The information was filed electronically on January 2, 2019. (22).

The court entered an order declining to rule on Lee's motion, but preserving the issue, and finding probable cause to bind Lee over. (25; App. 101). The Court of Appeals acknowledged receipt of Lee's permissive appeal by letter dated January 28, 2019. Lee filed a motion to supplement the record to include his motion to dismiss and amended motion to dismiss with prejudice, attaching those documents to the motion to supplement. (Lee's Mot. To Suppl.); (20); (23).

The Court of Appeals granted Lee's motion to supplement on March 11, 2019, and ordered Lee to provide

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-27-2020 Page 22 of 63

Transcripts from Lee's hearings by April 28, 2019, with an explanation of whether and when the circuit court intended to rule on the pending motion to dismiss with prejudice.

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