FILED
05-13-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP221-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NHIA LEE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM NON-FINAL ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS ENTERED IN THE MARATHON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE LAMONT K. JACOBSON, PRESIDING

### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIMOTHY M. BARBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1036507

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Therefore, Lee has not provided any authority under state law that compelled the circuit court to appoint counsel at county expense on September 14, 2018.

# B. Lee's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was not violated by the circuit court's decision to not appoint counsel at county expense.

While Lee discusses his constitutional right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment at length, he does not claim outright that he was denied his constitutional right to Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 41 of 53

counsel. (Lee's Br. 34–37.) However, to the extent that this Court construes his argument as stating such a claim, it fails.

"Under the Sixth Amendment, a person formally charged with a crime has a right to counsel at every critical stage of the proceedings." State v. Hornung, 229 Wis. 2d 469, 476, 600 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1999). The right to counsel "attaches when a warrant is issued or a complaint filed." Id. However, the fact that the right to counsel attaches at a particular point does not mean it is a "critical stage" that requires the presence of counsel, for instance, when the prosecutor files the complaint. Rothgery v. Gillespie Cty., 554 U.S. 191, 212 (2008). That said, it is undisputed that an indigent defendant has a constitutional right to representation before the preliminary hearing. See Jones v. State, 37 Wis. 2d 56, 69, 154 N.W.2d 278 (1967).

As discussed above, Lee was represented by counsel at his initial appearance, his bail review hearing, and at his preliminary hearing. (R. 41:2; 50:1–2; 56:1–2.) While Lee complains he did not have representation at the review hearings (Lee's Br. 3–4, 7), Lee cites no authority for the novel proposition that he has a constitutional right to counsel at a review hearing to determine if representation is available. Lee ignores that the entire point of the review hearings was to ensure that he was *not* denied his right to counsel at the preliminary hearing. Lee has not identified any "critical stage of the proceedings" where he was denied counsel. *Hornung*, 229 Wis. 2d at 476.

Therefore, Lee's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was not violated by the circuit court's refusal to appoint counsel at county expense on September 14, 2018.

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 42 of 53

# III. Lee's due process rights were not violated, and he cannot establish actual prejudice from any alleged violation.

Relying on *Jauch v. Choctaw Cty.*, 874 F.3d 425 (5th Cir. 2017), Lee argues that "[t]he pretrial detention of three months violated [his] procedural and substantive due process rights." (Lee's Br. 45.) Lee asserts that the failure to appoint him counsel earlier prejudiced him in a variety of ways. (Lee's Br. 46–47.) Lee's due process arguments are without merit because he cannot establish either a procedural or substantive due process violation and he suffered no demonstrable prejudice.

While Lee treats his substantive and procedural due process rights as one and the same (Lee's Br. 43–49), they are separate rights, designed to protect separate interests, and have separate legal frameworks. As such, the State discusses each separately.

- A. Lee's right to procedural due process was not violated because he has no constitutional right to a preliminary hearing and the court already had found probable cause at the initial appearance.
  - 1. Procedural due process protects a person's right to notice and opportunity to be heard.

As explained by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Thompson*, 2012 WI 90, ¶ 46, 342 Wis. 2d 674, 818 N.W.2d 904, procedural due process protections safeguard individuals' right to "notice and an opportunity to be heard," which "must be extended at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner," before a suffering a deprivation of their rights. *Thompson*, 342 Wis. 2d 674, ¶ 46 (quoting 16C C.J.S. *Constitutional Law* § 1444, at 188 (2005)). "The elements of procedural due process are *notice* and an opportunity to be

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 43 of 53

heard, or to defend or respond, in an orderly proceeding, adapted to the nature of the case in accord with established rules." *Id.* (quoting 16C C.J.S. *Constitutional Law* § 1444, at 188 (2005)).

Procedural due process claims thus require a two-step analysis: "the first asks whether there exists a liberty or property interest which has been interfered with by the State; the second examines whether the procedures attendant upon that deprivation were constitutionally sufficient." State v. Stenklyft, 2005 WI 71, ¶ 64, 281 Wis. 2d 484, 697 N.W.2d 769 (quoting Kentucky Dep't of Corrs. v. Thompson, 490 U.S. 454, 460 (1989)). In the criminal context, the question of "how much process is due" is determined with heavy deference to state court criminal procedural rules. Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 445–56 (1992).

2. Lee was provided with a meaningful notice and opportunity to be heard prior to the deprivation of his liberty at his initial appearance.

The State does not dispute that Lee has a protected liberty interest that is implicated by his pretrial detainment. Lee argues that his procedural due process rights were violated because the State did not hold a prompt preliminary hearing. (Lee's Br. 43.) However, "[t]here is no federal or state constitutional right to a preliminary hearing in Wisconsin." State v. Gillespie, 2005 WI App 35, ¶ 4, 278 Wis. 2d 630, 693 N.W.2d 320. As explained by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in State v. O'Brien, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 19, 354 Wis. 2d 753, 850 N.W.2d 8, while a defendant has a statutory right to a preliminary hearing and probable cause determination under Wis. Stat. § 970.03, "[t]he right to a preliminary examination is not constitutionally guaranteed and is solely a statutory right." Thus, as the circuit court correctly concluded, it naturally follows that "the statutory time frame does not dictate the scope of the Constitutional right." (R. 57:19.)

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 44 of 53

Instead, the scope of Lee's right to procedural due process before extended pretrial confinement is established in *Riverside v. McLaughlin*, 500 U.S. 44 (1991). There, the United States Supreme Court held that, following a warrantless arrest, due process requires that there must be a probable cause determination within 48 hours. *Id.* at 56–58. *Riverside* was expressly adopted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Koch*, 175 Wis. 2d 684, 696, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993). "The probable cause determination can be made at the initial appearance or in combination with any other pre-trial proceeding, so long as the determination is made within 48 hours of the arrest." *Id.* at 698–99. This process "fulfill[s] the same function for suspects arrested without warrants as the pre-arrest probable cause determination fulfills for suspects arrested with warrants." *Id.* at 698.

Here, Lee had two initial appearances in this matter; one on September 4, 2018, at which he appeared under a false name, and the second on September 10, 2018 under his actual name, which was continued until September 11, 2018. (R. 57:17; 40:1–2.) Lee was represented by Attorney Toulouse, and probable cause was found at both appearances. (R. 40; 41; 57:17–18.) Accordingly, Lee's constitutional right to a probable cause determination before extended pretrial confinement was satisfied.

Lee's reliance on *Jauch*, 874 F.3d 425, is entirely misplaced. In *Jauch*, the plaintiff was taken into custody on several traffic tickets and an alleged outstanding warrant and held in custody without an attorney or bail for 96 days, pending the next term of the circuit court. *Id.* at 428. After she was appointed counsel and posted bail, the prosecutor reviewed the case and dismissed the charges; it was "undisputed that Jauch was innocent all along." *Id.* 

Jauch then filed a civil action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, claiming a variety of constitutional right violations, including procedural and substantive due process claims under the

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 45 of 53

Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 428. On appeal, the court determined that the procedure used to hold Jauch without counsel or the opportunity for bail or an appearance before a judicial officer for 96 days violated Jauch's constitutional rights to a speedy trial, habeas relief (bail), and right not to be deprived of liberty without due process. *Id.* at 434–35. The court's chief concern was the plaintiff's inability to have bail set or appear before a judicial officer to review the basis of the charges against her. *Id.* 

Aside from the fact that *Jauch* is not binding precedent, the decision is of little value in this case because Lee's case is so factually dissimilar. First, unlike the plaintiff in *Jauch*, Lee had a prompt appearance before a judicial officer, represented by counsel, at which probable cause was found and bail was set. (R. 41:3.) Second, Lee had another bail hearing on November 7, 2018, at which time he was represented by counsel. (R. 50.) Third, unlike the plaintiff in *Jauch* who was innocent of the charges brought against her, Lee had a probable cause hearing on January 2, 2019, at which time he was bound over for trial. (R. 56:16.)

Fourth, unlike the plaintiff in *Jauch*, Lee would have been subject to incarceration even absent the delay in obtaining counsel because he was simultaneously being detained on a supervision hold. (R. 41:2.) And finally, unlike the plaintiff in *Jauch* who waited behind bars without being brought before a judicial officer for 96 days, Lee had repeated review hearings in front of a court commissioner to determine if counsel was available, during which time he was advised of his rights, as detailed above. Accordingly, *Jauch* does not establish that Lee's right to procedural due process was violated in this case.

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 46 of 53

### B. Lee's right to substantive due process was not violated.

Whereas the right to procedural due process is concerned with the sufficiency of the procedural safeguards employed before depriving a person of a protected interest, the substantive due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and its companion provision in article I, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution, protect "individuals against governmental actions that are arbitrary and wrong," regardless of the process used. *Thorp v. Town of Lebanon*, 2000 WI 60, ¶ 45, 235 Wis. 2d 610, 612 N.W.2d 59.

However, a person "who wishes to pursue a claim for an alleged violation of the right to substantive due process embarks on a difficult undertaking." *Eternalist Found., Inc. v. City of Platteville*, 225 Wis. 2d 759, 775, 593 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1999). That is because, as the United States Supreme Court explained in *Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833, 842 (1998), the substantive due process clause does not expand the scope of existing constitutional rights. That is, "where a particular amendment provides an explicit textual source of constitutional protection against a particular sort of government behavior, that Amendment, not the more generalized notion of substantive due process, must be the guide for analyzing these claims." *Eternalist Found., Inc.*, 225 Wis. 2d at 775.

Lee asserts that "[t]he practice of requiring indigent defendants who rely upon the state for appointed counsel to wait extended periods of time to secure counsel violates due process." (Lee's Br. 43–44.) Lee's substantive due process claim implicates his Sixth Amendment rights to counsel and a speedy trial, as well as his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to procedural due process. However, the State has already shown Lee cannot establish his constitutional rights under any of these provisions were

violated. Where the same allegations have already been shown insufficient to establish a violation of a textually based constitutional right, a court "necessarily do[es] not address them with regard to the substantive due process claim." Thorp, 235 Wis. 2d 610, ¶ 50.

For these reasons, Lee fails to state a substantive due process violation.

C. Lee cannot demonstrate actual prejudice from any alleged constitutional violation because he has not yet been tried and he never made an evidentiary record.

Most errors, even constitutional ones, are subject to the harmless-error rule. State v. Kramer, 2006 WI App 133, ¶ 25, 294 Wis. 2d 780, 720 N.W.2d 459. An error can be deemed harmless or nonprejudicial in a criminal case when "it appears 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute" to the result of the proceeding. See Hannemann v. Boyson, 2005 WI 94, ¶ 57, 282 Wis. 2d 664, 698 N.W.2d 714 (quoting *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 44, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189). However, there is a very narrow class of "structural errors" that affect the overall framework of the trial in such a "profound manner" that the "trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence," which are not subject to a harmless-error analysis and require automatic reversal. State v. Martin, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 43, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 306, 816 N.W.2d 270 (citation omitted).

Here, Lee does not argue structural error. 12 Instead, he argues that he was "irreparably harmed" in a variety of ways

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Compare State v. Flynn, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 56, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994) ("total deprivation of right to counsel" constitutes structural error) with Coleman v. Alabama, 399 U.S. 1, 11 (1970) (deprivation of counsel at preliminary hearing subject to harmless error analysis).

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 48 of 53

by the alleged violation of his due process rights. (Lee's Br. 46–47.) However, Lee's argument is fundamentally flawed for three reasons: (1) he failed to develop a factual record; (2) he has not been denied a right to present a defense; and (3) it is premature to assess harmless error.

First, while Lee asserts several items of alleged harm—such as loss of physical evidence (a cell phone), being subject to a custodial interrogation without counsel to negotiate a cooperation agreement, and being unable to identify the officers who spoke with him—Lee made a conscious decision to *not* create an evidentiary record to substantiate these claims. When Lee made these same arguments to the circuit court, the court asked if counsel wanted an evidentiary hearing to establish the claimed items of prejudice as she was making "representations that, frankly, aren't part of the record." (R. 57:9.) Counsel declined the opportunity for an evidentiary hearing, explaining she didn't want her client testifying. (R. 57:9–11.)

A defendant asserting prejudice based on a delay in appointing counsel is required to make a factual record to establish actual harm for a court to find a constitutional violation. *See Rothgery*, 554 U.S. at 213 (remanding section 1983 action for determination of whether six-month delay in appointment of counsel actually prejudiced defendant). As Lee failed to timely make an evidentiary record of the harm he alleges, he forfeited the argument. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612.

And, even if the court accepts counsel's allegations at face value, they do not establish that Lee's ability to present a defense has been compromised. Lee does not argue that he gave incriminating statements to officers when he was interviewed; instead he is upset he wasn't able to negotiate a plea deal. While Lee asserts that "his phone contained information that would assist in his defense" (Lee's Br. 47), he does not explain how so.

Case 2019AP000221 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2020 Page 49 of 53

Finally, it is entirely premature to assess the impact of any of these alleged harms because Lee has not been tried. The test for harmless error looks to whether it "contribute[d] to the verdict obtained." *Hannemann*, 282 Wis. 2d 664, ¶ 58. Accordingly, the impact of the errors Lee alleges cannot, by definition, be assessed until he has been tried. *See State v. Mills*, 107 Wis. 2d 368, 371, 320 N.W.2d 38 (Ct. App. 1982) (applying harmless error rule to deprivation of counsel when jury instructions read); *Whitty v. State*, 34 Wis. 2d 278, 289, 149 N.W.2d 557 (1967) (holding that denial of preliminary hearing was subject to the harmless error analysis).

In short, Lee cannot prove actual prejudice from the alleged due process violations and therefore he is not entitled to any relief.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court order denying Lee's motion to dismiss.